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L.,B, Do you want to give usyour name as you were Biven your name by your
parents?

H. E, Hannah %%

L,B. And what was your maiden name?

H.EBE, Kleiman.

L.B, Kleiman? And where were you born? . 20"

Tfﬁr‘?oi**&;\ Which is the Rome of Polaﬂgw

L.,B. Czestahova(?) it's on that map! ”

H.E. Yes, Czestahova is , This is the very famousl place, as far as . a\b

as far as religion 1s concerned. Now it's called Rome of Poland, Now

historically in the xsuburb of Czestahova is alittle mountain whatscalled

Yasnagura, it means... “Gura 'is a hountain, Yasna it mean enlighted, saint,

like a halo around it. And on the top of that mountain is a cloister.

Very famoué{ Roaks llved there., And in the 14th centuryl when the Turks

invaded Vienh and-wee were going to cross Poland , and there were hordes

of men, you know, Viena felt it was hordes in those days,that Yasna-

guray that cloister was a fortress actually, sort of fought the Turks

and won the. battle and saved the city. So from now on thechon51dered this

- _as a very holy place., And as a matter of fact it's like L&éru($) of Francepﬁt“l:e;

““As~a-matterof fact as a child I remember pilgrimages,.. peonle from miles
were going on their knees towards that cloister and they claimed there
were miracles there, that Virgin Maria amt who was dressed in diamonds and
all kinds of things, and she performed miracles <“hether you believe
it or not, but ah, cured and so on. And so I re ember from America
pilgrimages as a child, and from all over the world. That's why they call
Czestahova the Rome of Poland. It's a very Catholic city.
L.B, Catholic,,. well Rome is...
L.K, Were there many Jews living...?
H.E, Well,yeah , in Poland in my day there was one(? )f\7and a half
million Jews? Before the holocaust.
L.,B, Vell in your city?
H.E. In my city... my city was a hundred thousand peoplei in my times.,. I
would say there were at least thirty thousandJews, thirtyfive thousand.
L,B, Jews... N
Ko 9% [y Of the Czestahovitch population? %
.E{ Jews were all over FPoland,
K, But thats a big per centage.:.
B, About thirty thousand...
K, especially in a holy city...
H.,E, Well, Jews in that cityp particularly in our city, and there were
two classes of Jews; the poor and the comfortable. The poot were ghettoe
Jews\t, like Jews in the other cities. The others were s0
assimilated, I myself was very a351m11;ted
L.B, Could you tell me what year you were born? Hannah, would you mind?

I would like to know because I habe to settle when events took
place in your life,
H.E, 0,K, when events took place in my life... I am sixty seven years old,
. So that's when? 19067
Right,
0.k. So you were born there in 1906,
. Well I don't remember the very early days, I remember only Poland...
independant Poland,
L,B. That would be after the war?
L.K, Vhen did you leave Poland?
H.E
L

oo e

LB
H.E
L,B
HE
1

L, I went to this country 1930, January .
K., On, then that's a length of time, there's about 24 years that she can

remember 20 years of, which is helpful,
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INTERV IEWER
L. B, Now you say you can't remember early times? L Ef%f7”/
H,E. ©Oh, well, early times I can't remember. =
L,B., You remember the house that you lived in?
H.BE, Oh yes!
L,B., O.K.

H.,BE. I can remember every window, every room. Well the house we lived in..
you want the street??
L,B., Yeah, sure! (mgaw»*? Qlod
H,E, Well in my days it was called Qg , later it was changed. ¥
You want my days?
%..B, Both, if you know both, b
HYE, In my days it was Ogradova shesh., It means, Ogradess, it means a gard~
en,.. Six, This house was bulltby my father, it was a big apartment house.
And it was like two yards, you know I have to give a description because
the Germans confiscated that hguse. and you know the government, the Polish
government had to give me e noney, you see, It has nothing to do with the
Germans, they paid nothing., So I had to give a description of the whole
wamks houde and I just Acuwendic  AC like I look at you now,
Now, If you want a description of the house, it was built by my father,
it was estimated before the war...
L,B, Before which war?
H.BE, thessecofitser Before the second world war. As a child I remember. You
see my father used to say... we were ten children, I was the tenth ¢ hild,
“T=wee the youngest, and he said ... he was a business man, and whén I was bolf
I brought him lots of luck . So he says he was getting rich when I was born
But he raised the family, he gave everyones ﬁkgfirﬁb Aot T waud v deny, #&d15ﬂ01ﬂﬂ
L,B, First I want ot hear about the house,
H.,E, The house, The house is, the front is what they call, it's a two
Lo stories house .,
% L.B, Wood?
H.E. Oh, no.,
L,B., Brick?
H.,B. Brick, of course, brick, very civilised, With toilets, with water/
electricity, everything, With bathrooms and everything.
L.B. This was built in what jear? Before you were born or after?
H,E, No, after I was born. And then that was ant old building, that Papa dii
not build,.But then he built.,.. u see in Burope there are yards, first
there'sa oy q%? O%% -~ what they call a gate, like
a gate,\you open and then you det into the inside of the house, So there's
one yard and in the yard there were two small buildings which didn't amount
to anything, poor people Tine lived there . Buh then there was the new
addltlowfo the house, which was two story houde with all the convériences,
Running water, no hot water running, cold water running, we had to heat,the
hot water. But we had bathrooms, very civilised bathrooms, ,of course noﬂ"
/) this.,, we had to pull, And bathtub @ith a stove to heat the water in order

TR to make the bath. And then there was another yard..
s L.,B, Hhey were like inner court yards?
VR H,EBE, That's right,~which had also another, new, building of two stories.

And’ it was considered a big house, 1t was estimated before thewar for a
hundred thousand dollars,
L.B., What year was it built?Do you remember?
H.E, Buildings in Burope last a lifetime. Now it must have been built, I was
at least six years old.
L,B, So about 1912,
H.E. And this building stays ifi tact today. Not a brick is missing. The
Russian government took it over,
L.B. This building ®city is nowunde® Soviet...
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H.E. No, Polish government, oy
£.B. Oh, the Polish government. . &Q_EﬂﬁngVViJ
H.E, First , when after the holocaust the Poles took over, as-when the
Jews ran away, the Poles ‘took aver, but then, you know,& when they settled
down, the government,.. th&% is a liitle bigger house, the Polish govenment
takes over. Thats as far as I know about it now, I don't want to even
inquire anymore. I have a lawyer -in the//..there is American government,

~ ask them, Iook it, if yQu pay, my citizens, I pay because there's frozen
“ assets, like the@)haﬂsﬁhk‘the old people, you know, so they said if you want {«

pay, but of course they get the big money, the small man gets very little, .
because first of all the lawyerswill come .."lWi#h¥ihe large family (rtkan all wteg abve.
I get 118, so which amounts to extra money. But it was still assessed i A
for 90,000, today.

L.B. It must have been a beautiful building.

H.E. You see I tell you why is like that, Chenstajowa is a city on the

German border . Now the Silesian border.

IluB. Silesian bOI‘der'

H.E. Silesia, Ober (Oder?) Silesian,

1.B, That's the Eastern side, Ah, westedn...

H.E, Eastern, eastern.

L.B. It's on the eastern?

H, E. TIt's like towards the,.. check it, check it out, I think it, maybe .«

L.B. Silesdi I think is the westemn,..

H,E. Breslau, you know where Breslau is?

o, P \e

H.BE, That's a Polish...that washin Polish hands., That's Silesia, Schlonsk.

L.B. That's in Germany?

That was German, those days, always (erman, Pomern, Pomozha, ;ll this was
German, on the Baltic Ocean,8uppot, Suppot, all this.

L.B. TIt's west.

H.E, It's west. All this was German. Danzig was Freistadt, that means it
didn't belong to anybody, they had their own colony .

L.B. Where was Czestahova in relation to the...

H.E, Czestahova was on the border of Silesla. Anybody who wanted... there
was a lot of smuggling going from Germany to Poland, you see, because of this.
fo you see wheﬁ?he war broke out, in 1939, the first thing the Germans got

into our city. So our city was never bombarded, it was incorporatedéfﬂfj}ﬁéh+ﬁj4dv




5;@&}

3 ‘k\ﬁi\

3
H7 N

~

(1{3}\

‘w3

ol

7%bm%15 /q2£;15q;ﬂ,
}NTERV]E ER

g.BROMV
( to Reich®) That was Czastahova, Czastahova, as I say, was an’ intelligent
city., It was a Polish city you know, it was moxe progressive city.
L,K, Did it have a university?
H.E, No,Universities i8 Poland were only two,In Warsaw and Cracow. But it had
several Highschodls. And leaa:mca,wu 7 s
L,B, First may I go back to one thing? You say your father was in business?
What kind of business was he in?
H.E, Those years, those years when I toll you, of course later he was dafferent,
The years when he built the house he was in, he had a representative of coal .
from the mines for Poland. Therel isngpart of Poland called Zpagendian zguwmﬁvnﬁx
Zyagwendia is a part where the, also™im Silesia,X its Bengian ,Sosnovian,all
these, they are the coal mines, Poland has a lot of coal mines.
L,B. Silesia is coal too,
H,E. Not as muwmzx much, no, It comes from Poland, there's coal mines in
Poland., And so he had a paxt representative of coal, for certain part Q
Poland from the ménes, also had a representative of linens from Russia:%%§ggg§),
linen. . »
1.B, Was he the middle man? In the sense that someone would need to, someone
would mine the coal and then they would come to him and say they need to sell
it, he would find... \
H,E. No, he was not... yes, something like that. But linens nowwe had a store,
we had a wholesale place of linens, but that was in the good days. Things
 had changed after. In the days I'm telling you that was the good days, 1912, th>
Jews were... 1 mean if they were not very poor, as I said there were two
classes, the tailor and the shoemaker and the worker was-- had it very dull,
I tell you about later, as I go, But those years I remember prosperity only.
I can only tell you from my point, as a child. Ve were ten children, Father
gave dowries to children, my sisters they got diamonds and furniture,my
mother used to go to Warsaw for clothes etc., etc. Things have changed later,
these were the good days.
&,B. That was before the first World Var.
H.E. No,dthat was after the first World Var,
B, You say it was 1912, But it lastedthrough...?
E, 1912 Father built the house,
B, And how long did the good times last?
,E. The World Was was 1916, no?
B, 1914-1918,
E. Well, so... I remember those good days. You see the first world war I
don't remember much. I don't remember much... ' ‘
L.K., * 8,10, 12 years old, what would she remember?
H.E, I don't remember, I remember that, one thing, that if you wanted to
buy bread, well I have a brother who lives in New Zealand, a tall guy, and
dlder than I, he was standing on line for the bread, which was called Popu-
larka. Tt was made out of straw or whatever it is. The people who had money
there was a black market, We could survive., We were buying, stored potatoes,
and stored.., but the first World War I cannot tell you much, I can only tell
you after the first World War.And that's what I remember, Iremember as a ch&ld

when the world war broke out, I was a ve 11 child, my father took
e, I think IThad-a cold, my father took me with u<bay to the cellar, and we

all hid in the cellar because there was bombarding, you know, because the

first World War the Cermans were, the Germans got in too, But that time

we welcomed the Germans. The Germans were the benefactors in 1914,

L,B, That's right.

H.E. I tell you a very interesting story about my grandfatheﬁ@ith the Germans
that was told to me and it was all in the family, My grandfather was a Jew who
died at the age of... in the nineties, Was six foot two, Very good looking man,
My father, my whole family's tall except me, I was the youngest bakg §G$katr )
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The grandfather had a beard, you know, he had a type of , you know,a scholarly
n Qé‘ Jew, My grandmother was the business woman, and he was studyi S5 er=aay N
% Y Soyduring the week he had a different fur coat and sabbath he h differnét
fur coat., My grandmother had a mill and she had a business selling flour.
So everybddy came to the grandfather, see? "Grandmother", asked the grand-

Yy B Agg;gxegijﬂg§§,§ all we bring to Grandfather?" *wﬁxgﬁﬁﬁxJ
N& O =" For me? I»ég;;éfgigz:ég, bring him good cigars, bring him vodka,bring him
good ¢cugnacy ;7 Things like that! And they never wanted anything. My
' grandparents married off grandchildren, giving dowries to grandchildren,to
some, not my father, because my father was a man who didn't need any help.
They had ten children, we had ten children., They had so many grandchildren,
And when ny grandmother in her eighties, and were wearing skirts like this,
good looking woman, big pockets, and those pockets was filled with candy. And
grandchildren, I don't know how many ske had, they went "NOW, now!" That's
how it was, that was the type of the family, you see,
L.B, Well your grandmother was quite a capable woman,
H.E, Very capable, And Grandfather was a scholar and she didn't let him
do anything, He was on the peéast%i and she was the one who ran the whole
business. pedes:
L.B. Hid they live in the same city as you?
H.E. Yes, they lived in the same city. They lived in the Jewish section., It
was a little ghettoe, you know, sort of? Andm my grandfather remembered
Napoleon. So you can imagine, And they had their own house. They owned, a house:
And the janitors wife used to do things for them on sabbath, and this , and
they had a maid to do., And when my grandmother died, my grandfather died a
year after, he wouldn't go to children. Says" I die in my own bed"., So every =&
night another grandchild had to come to sleep with$ him, And on Sabbath he
wouldn't let anybody to make fire or anything, so the janitors Bife used to
come on this, They were independant people, never had anything from chil-
dren, and died very proud, As a matter of fact there was a pin of my grand-
mother's pin, that's a half a moony I rememberuéausg I always wanted it, Like a
Turkish half a moon &SES4F gold, And there were twoa., filled with rubies,
V. and they were not diamonds like we"call,., they were brilliante and diamente,
\;)\?\ brilliante was a finished dia.moA and diamomdwas unfinished stone, And they were
Q?' dheaper, so this was that unfinished stone. Now during the Vorld War One they
N ﬁ?@ ,became pooregt, but they would not ask the children, We discovered after she
AR i >

“died\ mwmdmmiyu evédently she used that pin, $E e xitrd when we inherited

N
the pin those diamonds were placed with glass, She must have sold them, not

asking for any help. This was the ,type, they an't exist, these o' people
N Xg& w2ay more, These were thg_gggp%g_&%gkhbﬂ' ( Sholew tad, T4 GE5F Cof
. > Wy heritage,because that is what I remember. And I remember when the i=x

World War One, when the Germans came in, the Jews welcomed the Germans, very Ku=
much., They were our wenefactors, because that time Russia was no good for
Jews or for Poles either, They persecuted the Poles too, So everything
concentrated on the market place. The market place was always in the middle
of the city. And Jews were, and Poles too, the Jews especially, were waving
and welcoming the German aﬁ?%&nAt the head of the German army sat, was
an elderly man, a general%§‘ An those days the army was different, the Germans
were different, And next to them was an empty horse, a horse without a rider.
And Brandfather, since he was taller than anybody else, stuck out., And he was
very goodlooking. So he looked around you know, the people waiting, and he
called hinm,,. .

@ L,B, The general c3dlled hén,

. H.E, He c2lled him," Der Juden, with the big beaxd, with the nice white beard".
Grandfather turned white! Ther're going to shoot him! So he went and he
shivered, you know? And the general looked him over and said" For your good




INTERV 1EWER A’MQ //Zﬂﬁé“j (

L EROUN

looks I'1l give you that horse". And he gave him the horse! Now what would
o R an old Jew do with a horse? 5o he gave it, those years they had these, what
! @’% they call traigf?)... % cc\\_eQ&
i L.K. A vasser traigex?
L,B, Carters.
H.E. They carted linens, and... So he gave it to hém
L,B. They carted people too, not on their backs but in wagons.
H.E. I don't remember much, but I remember when Poland was independdnt after
the World War, I remember when Pdland, after the World War I, Poland was ‘
engaged in a war with Russia, which was a local war., That brother of mina who
SRS is in New Zealand, that's the time when he ran away from Poland, because

N oo ould have gone to the gront lines, and we didn't want him, and we sent hém
S0 M " to Viemna, and that'st 1 story and so on and so on, So I remember Poland
o after... the Poles won the Wwar you know.

L,B. Right,

H.,E., And Poland became independant., So I went to school,
L,B, Where did you go to school? '
H,E, In Czestahova, School from kindergarten. Private schools which were
very expensive.
L,B. Who ran the schools, the government Or,,.?
H.,E, Wait., Pirst it was private. Then when I reached the first class or
maybe the second class,which I don't remember exactly, the government took
it over. And these schools were the best schools, The reason I could get
inis because I came from kndergarten,There was a limited amount of Jews that
could get in, These government schools they called Numerus Clausus, But it
wasn't numerus clausy>it was numerus nulus, You understand?
L,K, No what is the meaning? '
, L,B, Practically no Jews were let in,
%é.‘ H.E, No Jews., But these who remained they couldn't get out. When we reached.
) the eighth class which is Baccalaureate in French but Matura in Polish,
Which means the.,.. when you finish highschool,
L.,B, You graduate, )
H.E, I graduated., There were only two Jewish girls, I was-an{j(?)??ba ‘o
Anti-semitism was at the highestlevel, '
L.B, What year Please?
B, How can I give you the years?

. 177
1923, If you were born inl906 and you were 17 it must have been

Had you sensed any anti-semitism before that time?

,» Yeah,

+ You Had, . .oy

. There was always anti-semitismm, Yk win glanes aukl- pemmikira

» What mere the signs that you could recognize?

Ch, I tell you... I remember a pogrom in our city, a pogrom, As I told
you the houses are built as that is like a brama(?) like a gate,., like

a big door., In Poland every night the concierge, the superintendant or the
Janitor, whatever you call it,will lock it for the night, And there's a bell,
When you come in after 12 o®clock you have to pull the bell and he comes out
of the warm bed, and opens it, of course you give him a tip, and how you

get into the houses, T ere was a rumour that there is going to be a pogrom,
of course right away...., the janitors were very devoted, They were very loyal
people,

L,B., They were not Jewigh?

H,E., Not Jews, A janitor was not a Jew, They were loyal to the people who
employed them, Now they were loyal to us, PFut if I tell you, my brother, the
one who is in New Zealand, was a very husky boy. He had a gun., He had a
permit for a gun, because of our business and this,,, he had a gun, Andhe
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was not afraid of anything. He went ou%, of course we all hid, we were not,
none of us were hurt or anything. Nobody invaded our homes, But it was on
the streets, You know who was fighting in those days, who,.. my father

and our children, we were not. The butchers, the husky boys and the bakexrs
and the young ones, they will go out and fight them, these Poles, you know,
when there was & pogrom. ' ‘
1,,B, Sq what you're saying is the working class Jews went out and fought,
resistedithe pogroms.

H.E, Yes, very few. I remember only one, and I think one or two people were
killed., It was not a slaughter 1ike in Russia you heard about the pogroms,
they came and raped and this and that,.... 1o, it was a clash,

L,B. Just on the street?

H.E. On the street, If I tell you that my brother recogniged one of the
boys , this is beforef?) anti-semitism, and that was in the good days yet,
1t was not in the depression days as I get to It, There was one, a student,
who used to come to our house, Who used to kiss my hand, kiss my mother's
tand! They were you know, chevalier, they were gentlemen, And he was in the
gang to attack the Jews. :

L.B., Now who organized this gang, what kind of a gang was it?

H.E., Well, I don't know much about this, I remember only one of those
pogroms, it's not an organized pogrom, it's not a major pogrom., I told you
about pogrom because anti-semitism existed® AL Yhl XMy

1,B, Was it worseafter the first war or before or the same,,.?

H.E, I—domki—remember Before, I don't rememberT.

L.K, Shis is the thing that happened before, though, the one where your
brother recogndzed his friend...

H,E. After the war, after.

L.B., After the war?

H.E, There was always anti-semitism., But I enly esperienced one as a child,
that I remember, But I experienced anti-semitizm in school, There was a téme,
in school, in high school,that we had professors who were not liberal

peopléd, The professors were anti-semitic. Same thing with the students,

But once you are in school and this... you don't feel it that much, personally,
but you know thexe is antipsemitism because, first of all there came a time
in schools where the Jews had thelr separate.,.. we were segregated! One side,
we had like léttle benches, like a pulpit seat a little bit, and two sat., We
sat on this side, the gentiles sat on this side., In our Catholic schools

we had to get out because there wis prayers. . .

L.B, Your school was a Catholic school?

H.E, Of course it was a Catholic school,

L,B. Even though 1t was public? : _
H.BE. It was not public. T@e government took it over, but it was never public,
you paid.But you had oxly terrific... when you finished wne of these schools
your diploma is valid all over +the world. All over Europe. It's valid,

you don't have to take any exams, nothing.

L.B., So these public schools were taken over by the government,..

H.E. High schools were not public., There was no such a thing like in my
dimes a public high school . later on there were public elementary schools.
High school was always paid.

I,B, And it was Catholic?

H.E., Mine was Catholic, most of themire Catholic,

L,B., Most of them are Catholic?

H.,E, Yeah, But later om, T get to it...s

L.B, I am trying to understand the difference, you paid)but the government
owned them, is that correct?

H.E, We @ave, we had the...

L.B, Or did the church own then?

H.E., Oh nol No church owned them, oh no!

L,B.But you say they were Catholic, this is why...




JNTERV IEWER Hapnnan ﬂzgﬂbgf/p /7 o
L ERQWH .
H.E. The church of Poland is Catholic! See? Parochial schools,.. nuns had
their mm own schools. But government school meant not that you don't payis
public, it meant that you had priveleges. The diploma has more value thani
5 any other school,And I tell you how the exam goes in order to get the
%gb diploma, it wasn't easy. Well, I tell you about the axiiégx anti-semitism.
' ’ 90 we had different... at that time there wewe a lot of clashes at various
schools,like in (?) (IBmberg, ~id@wmesw=?) and other schools, in our city
there was not,When the Jewish students begin to revolt against the gentile
students when there was the ghetto benchés we called them., There was a lot
of unrest. There was a lot of antisemitism. So I sat on the ghetto bench too. etk
" Although I was only one of two Jewish girls, so the two Jewish girls(—ﬂﬂb4¢(faﬁKL
N e Jews always had to be better in school thanthe gentiles, they always
had to be brighter. They were persecuted more, I mean questions asked to us,
they give us...How to explain it in English? Our marks were not a hundred
like you have here, it was one, two, three, four, five, Now,flve nobody
gets, five is God, Four, the very privéleged, If you got three it mean you
passed,One, that means too low, but two is what we got, two was very mxEry often.
So , in math and high math ,we had geometry, trigonometry,and all this, physicsy
and all, Jews always had to be a little better in Latin than,.., I remember all
these years, I remember Ceasar still today by heart., That's how we had to
study.
L. K, Were your exams different than the exams given to the other children?
Were youn asked more questions? ‘ .
H,E. Not more, but fhey were a little more difficult, you know, not more.
But in order to get a diploma,Rimizk=d to finish, what did they call it?..,
government, the department of education from Warsaw, there was a comission,
came, a comission of three people, from Warsaw, and they sat, they made the
p¥ questions, not the professor, not the professor! They made the questions,
they nadmxihmxmxaxmz put the examsp and they sat through all these exams,
The professor witnessed, but they were..,. And they made the marks.
L.K, It's like a Regents exam here,that's made at the state,..
L.B. Yeah, but it's more personal, so it's more threatening.
H.,E, And they passed you, Once you get this diploma ... as you ... go to
university. So what do you want, Medicine? Numerous nulus,,.You couldn't,
unless you bribed and paid,an& I don't know, medicine, a Jew couldn't get in
my days, in my days, to study medicine in Warsaw, So where did they go?
Most of them to Exz Praga (Prague?), a lot of them went to Prague. Czeko-
slavakia was liberal, A lot of them .,. no, not to Germany,

L.,B, No?
4 H,E, No, Vienna, and France,Now, I have a nephew, in Italy>I have a nephew
R w54, doctor who is now Australia, survived{H: ™ concentration camp,

R who finished medicine in Italy. I have a nephew who finished in France chemical
engineering. This nephew is come is Doctor ofgﬁ?w. He got, they call it
Fagisto of law.,He was the only one who went to Warsaw, who got into Warsaw,
because law they let you, But any other,.. All my friends were college edu-
cated and professionals, but most of them,.,. Cracow was ﬁ§3§$f$§§, In Cracow
they got into g universities, Jews.,.. easler in Galicia, than it was in
Varsaw..,Warsaw was very difficult, .

L,Ks In Cracow did it involve bribery for a Jew to get into the university?
H,E, See, I didn't live in Cracow so I don't want to commit myself.But in
Poland,.,

L.B,. I would guess bribery everywhere,

H.E, Bribery was everywhere,

L,B, They said in Vienna,..

H.E. Bribery was everywhere, I had a brother doctor of law, but hekinished
in Vienna., So I tell youy the higher education was very difficult for

Jews to get in.,. for anti-semitism, And yet there was a lot of Jews who
studied in Warsaw, but medicine was very difficult to get in, And every Jew
vanted to be a doctor,

L. id th . . . .
se%it?é% %ne¥ﬂelﬂngggrg§%;%rsity, the friends that you had, talk of anti
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H.E. o had anti-semitizm. Czekosavakia did not have it, Czekoslavkia
was nice, they liked Czekoslavakia, the Prague, Vienna didn't have it
those years... they didn't feel,.. my brother loved Vienna, the one who
finished, he's buried in Viemna, he died young,
L,K. He never talked of anti-semitism in the university?
H.E., No! Poland they talked about Xt anti-semitism, Poland was always
anti-semitic, They liked..,of course they always loved (?) a Jew like I.
Y Oh, you, you we love!"” Because I spoke a good Polish, without an accent,
/ I did like this.., but the other Jews, they cit their beards, many times
307 you heaxd" P¥ Zhide '\ That type was a normal thing. When children were
' playing you... We didn't associate with gentiles!
L.B. You did not associate with gentiles?
H.E, No! I went toxsmkX}¥ school with them, all right, if I needed something
from school I would ask something, But we had our friends Jews!
L,B., That's what I was going to ask,So:yourm social life was really all
Jews?
H.E, Jews, definitely Jewish,
L,B. But your father sent you to xhmx thls school to get an education,
H,E. There was no other schools,
L.B, There was no Jewish gymnasia?
H.E. When I was already in the sixth, seventh classes my nephews made this,
see? I went from kindergarten so I had to went through the,.. because once
I am expelled...goodbye, I cannot get in, I tell you how strict our schools
were, where I was brought up., We were not allowed to go to a movie unless
is approved by school,
L.K. Which was a Catholic school,
H.E. No other schools had the same thing. They very, very strict. Ve were
not allowed to be after a certain hour on the streets without chaperoning.
We went to a movie, there has to be accompanied by an older person,
L,K. Bkd you live at the school?
H.E, Ne. ‘
L.,K., You lived at home,
H.E. I"lived at home, We had, for instance affairs...a ball, you know, My
brother went to (Goschminsky?) which was a gymnasium for boys. So we had,
these boys were invited to our school, under the supervision of the teachers.
Understand? Lipstick I didn't wear on until I was in the seventh class, I
wore a uniform, which consisted of a Navy skirt, a middy blouse, like a...
L.B., Sailor blouse.
H,BE, Sailor blouse, or a Peter Pan , white collar,,. I remember my sisters
always, because I was the youngest I let thefido it, to wash my, my...
L,B., Cuffs,
H.BE., Cuffs and this, and sew it on., And a black apron., That was the uniform.
Of course we were wearing a beret with idsignia of the school,
L.B., Did you have to learn anything about the Catholic religion® in the
schools too?
H,E, Ve didn't have to.I know their prayers because I heard them, They were
kneeling. Theyusaid the prayer at the end and at the beginning, but the
dewish girls used to stand up, We didn't walk out. Nobody forced you,..
I want to tell you, later... if I would be caught twice, or three times
against the rules, for instance on the street on a certain time, or 1ﬂa
movie that was not proper, three times, I am expelled from school, Bnce I
am expelled I can not get into any other school. That's how we were good.
It wasn't easy. But we had good times anyhow, we smoked cidgarettes too,
%g' ¥y L.B. So you enjoyed it actually in spite of everything x& because you
- were young.
H.E. Those were the good years, you know, the boys from the other high
schools were my friends, and later there were professionals who used to come
from the universities, they come for the holidays, for the New years, for
Christmas, they came home, And we had a very beautiful socéal life. But they

.
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were Jews. INTERV IEWER
1,,B., Di&d your mother keep the Sabbath? 1L ER ()(/U'V’
H.BE., Yes, Uy

L.B, Did you go to Shul on Friday night?

H,E. I went.., no, No, Father went, we didn‘*t. I had to go to school on Sabbath,
L,B, Oh, you did? . .o .
H.E. I had to write on Sabbath., We walked to schools: «'&“A Aafpend it )z;boh‘%
I had to write, Sabbath, Father was a vexry religious man, we had a kosher ¥ Sl )
home, The children were not kosher, Father knew, closed his eyes, closed

his ears,tolerated it, said nothing. But that was... Wwe were more assimilated,
we belonged to the different class of people I told you. I will give you

an entirely different story than the other people will give you. Because

T've been experienced this sort of life. Sometimes when I tell these

people who came they think, they don't believe me, That 1 lived like that,

you see,First of all they came before, they bame because of neccessity. They
came here to make a living, either they ran away from Russla, you see there

is intellegentsia uho—ren—aney—fTom-fussta. from Russia who ran away because
of Pogroms and anti-semitism, From Poland they ran away because, elther they
were bankrupt or they stole, or they had to run away from military service, or
poverty. I remember my father used to say ¥ " I am very proud, I have no
relatives in America." America did not have... we lookéd down to Americansz.
We didn't know what America is., But who did we see in America? The one who
(??Cﬂ”ﬁény years ago,left, who was a black sheep of the family, put it theis
way. Left for America, made money in America,came to visit/ If he didn't

make money he still came and helped the family because everybody took
advantage of the Americans. Every American is a millionaire, But hos did

he come dressed? In a big hat, wearing like that, yellow shoes, and we were
very conservative people! There was a class of people, it was a class of
people whose father's were doctors, lawyers, owned businesses. There was

upper middle class people! Who never emigrated, whom died in the holocaust.

It was the ?ig&&of Jewry, people even lecture when they talk of Poland, and

I hate Polan ;Oghy " what sort of a country is (POland?)" When I came

to this country I had a trousseau that my dress maker went to Paris to get,

to get for my... my father gave me a tremendous trousseau, so they looked

at me, I thought they would have a babushka, you know, a kexmimf little
kerchéef,.., a peasant. DBecause it was a different element. And. this

element did not come to America. It perished during the Hitler. And this

was the intellegentsia, they were the peopleﬁwﬁholom (Asch, ¥ 1), The

type of Sholom Ash, who never axrived to these borders, and they were a
terrific asset, would have been, to any country.

L,B., They couldn't leave in time, is that 4t? Because war was declared
Hy®,immediately and..,?

H.E, First of all they couldn't leame.,. I must show you. I have here

a letter written 1938 by my father, who wrote to me. He wrote in Yiddish, .

in Hebrew, in Russian, inPolish and German.

L.B. He knew those five languages? _

H.E, And I show you, he wrote me, I just found I keep it, wrote me 1938,a
year before war broke out. He was &illed at the akm age of eightie, he was

at that time 78,79. I show you handwriting of a man... They were not
dressmakers, they were not shoemakers, they could not,.. So what? I had

a sister who worked in aluminum factory, what she going,... she perished

with her two children and her husband, first thing. The Germans took over,

I have the pots and pans, I show you, that she gave me L4l years ago as a
wedding gift, a (? 0 ( a whole kitbhen?). There is that fish

cooking there in that pan that she gave me, They all perished, because, J
they would be a bit poor, They wanted their children to come to universitthxq,.
So I tried, so you know the consul, the American consul, that was when she
srote me,..

L.K. Do you remember what year?
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H.E. Yes, I remember, I tell you, because I remember. When I talk about it...
. L.B. You want to not talk?
o H.E., No, No, I talk, I get upset.
*%S' L.B, Sure, 9
\yo 7 H.E, Katya (?) died in a concentration camp of typhus, The other onesC.
¢ So,this girl finished high school, so my sister wrote me," Hanya,Iwant to get
her out of Poland, is bad. And the only way I can get her ewt as a student.,”
So I went to €olumbia, ... the American consul in Poland gave her conditions,
if she gets admistance to Columbia university, study medicine, they'll give
her the visa. I didn't know that things are going to be the way it is, I live
in.... Oh, I had a friend who was a graduate of Columbia, so they laughed at
me., They said you know we don't even give our own people? And secondly we
don't want anybody anymore because that time there was a civil war in Spain,
L.B. So this was '37°?

H,B, So when was the Civil war in Spain? : ‘ - A
’:;)2. L.B. '37! '38- .. X LA 'XJ’XL,

¢ H.B. Well, that was the civil war in Spain and they say we don't wanﬂany (2 )

In Columbia they told me! I never brought that child and she perished,

L,B, Now the Americans were not very good about letting them in?

H.E. DNo, they didn't want Poles here. :

I.B., They didn't want anybody!

H.E. I don't know whether anybody, but tney didn't want the Poles here, and

I couldn't get her. Here, look at the handwriting, of a man who was close

to 80,

L,B. Lieber kinde¥y so this is in German?

H.E, It's in German, but certain things...
L,B. That's a beautiful hand.
H,E. And the language,
L.B, Well, I don't know German, but it's a beautiful hand. He was 807 78,
H.,E. 78.
L.,B. His hand is very steady. :
H.E. That's it, you see? His name was lMoshe., And the finishes,.,.
~7a BB/ You should put it in plastic,
Y H.B., I had another letter..." I hope to see you maybe with the children..."

Noshe. He used to write letters, pages and pages. This Is a sister of mine
wrote, 3But he wrote to me in this letter...
L,B., Now this is Polish? '
H,E, This is Polish. He wrote me..,. I had a sister wldow, and she lived with
Father, Father wouldn't go to children, and he had asthma at that time and he
was coughing at night, so he writes to me,sfdst And that sister was a beautiful
woman, blonde, tall, very beautiful woman. She was unfortunately married and
he died, So he says, in thiés letter writes, myxmikemx "My other children
don't know that I cough at night and wake up through, but Paula (her name)
goes through that, and I would like to send her, she deserves it, I'll pay
the expenses,"( Fathsr didn't have nuch those years anymore,)., And he 58YS,

" I want her to come to the exhibition, to visit you and be in America",.:.
L.B, That's the World!s Fair in N.Y. ¥9%82 1938,°39,
H.E. And when, by the time I got to do anything, she got, the war broke out,
She would have been samed. He wanted to save her. Well, where was I}
L.B, Well, now you had finished high school.
H.B. I had finished high school, I was taking up music,
L.B.,  Wait, let me ask you something else, yourm father knew Polish, Yiddish,.
Russlan, Hebrew, and German.,
H.E, Yes, he was a scholar,
L.B. Where did he go to school?
H.E, Privathe tutors. )
L.B, Private tutors. chatins
HaBE. They didn't have schools, He went to Hatd@(?) in those years, You
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have to realize you know how many jears ago. 40 years ago th%y.§é§§)5o

years married. Why, 44 years ago, excuse me.”A year after... I be in Nov-
ember 44 years married. I came here in 1930 in January, right? I got married
November 12, 1929, which is 44 years Movember? Right? Now, a year after

my mother died, she died in Vienna,(and brought her home?), they believed

in doctors inVienna those days. We loved Vienna you know. And so Father...

a year after I came to this, they celebrated their fiftieth mxwumxxaxy
wedding anniversary.And then my mother died.So, when he was a child, he got
married at the age of 17, and I think my mother was the same age. So she was
already a woman with a boy., They never saw each other until they got married.
Until an engagement, from the... you know, that's the old story, which I was
told, I lived in a different mmmxx world, but that was the generation before,
my father's generation was like that,

L.B. Their marriage was arranged?

H.ﬁ. Ch sure, There were arranged marriages when I was there too.

L.B. - That's what I was going to ask you, the next question.

H.E. 0Oh, yes, there were a l°t-2£d%££3Pged marriages. Of course in a more
civilised way,not like,.. the came and he suggested, and they
met, and they went around, and they saw whether they liked each other, but
thosesfears they didn't eben see each other, probably. And, so I don't know
how my' father, but I'm sure he went to y and they private... and from
experiences., He travelled and he was bright. Talmud he knew very well, That
he knew., There were schools by that, that they studidd. Always, my father,
every Saturday he studled, you know, And when the grandchildren grew up, never
wanted it, the sons mever wanted it, in his old age before he dled he adopted
a yeshiva bochg®#®). He game him to eat, because they were starving, these
yeshiva bachagy in order to sbudy with him. He wanted the child... he was
lonely. It was a different world, you know. Father was a different world, altho
Was a very.... my father was a very domineering type, very domineering. He
vas what we was afraid of,

L,B, Was your mother afraid of him?

H.E, yeah, But she, you know,Among themselves they spoke Yiddish,To me Polish,
My grandfather spoke Polish too, 8e

L.B, So just between themselves they spoke Yiddish, but you knew Yiddish?

% H.E., I understood every word, but I never spoke Yiddish, I learned Yéddish
inAmerica. ' ’

L.B. Now what languages did you speak?
H.E, Polish, Feench, a little German.
L.,B, You learned French in school?
H.E
L.B

. French wasavery important language in school, second language in Poland,
. Polish and French.

H.E., I had even a private teacher come to,talk to... And music, those years
was like that... in order to marry well,,. one they give you,., they didn‘'t
prepare you for life at all. Lateﬂon » when already I was.., after this, I
wanted... there was a movement among the youth to We independant, to have
professions. KEven some took millénary, were selling hakts, anything to be
independant., Some were druggists, some were lawyers, but before x. "ashanda!
"What do you mean a child making a living?!" X in a certain type of/ a family.
L.B. Vhen did this movement start? This indépendsnt movement? Especilly among
girls.Do you remember when? After the war?

H.E, Among girls,.. boys they expected it from boys,

L.B, VWas it after the war?

H.E. ©Oh, yes!

L,B. After the war,

H,E, Yes, I don't remember anything before the war, So after the war, mostly
in the twenties,

L.B, Early?
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H.E. Probably. INTERV 1EWEJ—;
L.B. Yeah? L E QWI‘Y

H,E. Yeah, There was independant waman,.. I had already two urieﬁgs, Cohen
(Gohn?) her name was, her father was very rich man, was a dux druggist, and
she worked! One was a lawyer, worked! '
L.B., Now where did they go to school?

H,E, With me,

L.B., Where &id they get their degree? They had to go past gymas g -

H,E, They passed with me and theg they went to various colleges, I don't
know.where they went.

L.B. They had to ght into some university. A

H.E. Well of course... they went abroad, there wewe,.. lew locally there was
obtainable (?).

L,B., And pharmacy was obtainable too?

H.E. Pharmacy was obtainable too. :

L.K. The question occurred to me when you say about what time,.. Do you remembef
if that was about the time when the women started to cut their hair short?
H.E. Yes, yes.

L,EK. Yeah, that was it. rob lems '

H.E. Yes, and you know what? I had é%oubles with my father/ My father
believed, that's kx the household I lived in, very strict,' here was a
grandfathers clock that inherited from his father in his bedroom, a big

ik ol& fashioned, and he watched akkxihs, I was the youngest, when I came
home. My mother covered up wmhey everything., She used to go out of bed
varefoot, in the winter time it was bétter cold, sh, sh, and we had

a big apartment, I told you we were not poor people, we had five toom house,
apartment, you know we 1ived in our own house. So we went through the

1living room, we call it the Salon, it was no living room, Salon. I had a

room of my own, many Jewish....but the crowd... I had a sheltered life. And

a bad 1life before(®) simple because I didn't see what the next RmXlwwwx
fellow. We were sO, S0,.... egoistic, put it this way. There was sO much
poverty,we didn't see it. Po—trve—im—that-mitieaut e ddn't e in that - meliel,
1L.B, It was a private world,

H.E, It was a world of our own. I learned about things when I matured and

I came to America. And then I opened my mind. It was a sheltered house,
absolutely sheltered! I never knew what was not to get a thing! So that's

no experience. But, $o that's how we were brought up. Mother,"Shhhh."

If my brother was with me it was fine. When my boys came to visit, all

college boys, all students, the finest boys. We knew thelr fathers, we

knew their mothers, you know, everybody knew everybody., So they used to

take you to the brama, you know, the door, and there you stand, you were
talking yet, When you said goodbye we didn't kiss, God forbid!, he kissed

ny hand, So there was a whole ritual. You moved away the glome,.. oh it was
all gallant! If they wrote you letters its poetry. It was a romantic era,

but it doesn't exist. You know today...

L.B. All right let's go... so you removed the glove...

H.E. I removed the glove, and he kissed right here,

L.B. In the middle of the wrist. ST

H,E., Very delicately, you know, oh very gallant!aMy father would catch me
standing with a boy he wouldn't say anything. Eh,Bh, he makes this cough,

the boy started to run. So he xaxz used to say¥xsk "who is he, who is his
father? :

L.XK. Even my father did that in my day. g

H.E. mm&m—;—%é?i”,ﬁ{% é’é‘% 4o kiss your hand! What' T "y didn't he

come and ask me?" That's what I was going through, see?d My mother used

to cover this up., I used to go to my sister to visit, was very, Very... ( v
to addfzer #oigger city. Used to go tmx where they call® SArAEYG Y, Camnaréﬁuﬁoa ¢
means carnival, it's the holiday season., So I was, I was standing in the door-
way,you know,and the boy was saying goodbye, and he didn't know who he was
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and I heard "Eh,eh! He used to come for business Calls, I heard his voice
did I run!( 0 My sister would
get Hell! That's what it was, "Why doesn't he come and ask me?" So that was...
L.B, Now I asked one of the other woman, we were talking abdut,.. we
wanted to know how women managed. And if the father was the head, I said
didn't the women have tricks to avoid being...
H.E., Onh, they had plenty of tricks.
L.B. Right, that's what I wanted to know,
H.E. My mother had a (2F/ “‘Knippef™ Savings, savings under the linens.,
And we needed something for... my father didn't know,
L.B. What else did she do? :
H,E. My father had to aXk ask questions. He asked... he had to know who's
he and what is this and what .,..and we were different,aat we were just as...
was a generation gap. My father was extremely good father, there didn't come
better. I give you an instance, He was a very religious Jew. During Sabbath
he was like a G&@EI&Z But during the week he was Buropean, His clothes
was European, because he had to meet the directors of banks, the directors of’
mines and this... so he was very well versed, he was intelligent man, But
basically he was religious, And the childten , none of us were religious,
And nobody forced us to go to shul. I wnever went to shul,
L,K. I have a question to ask, At that time did you ever hear anything

about a Zionist, or a Zionist movement in your shtetl. AR :
H.E. Yes, my father was a Zionist,f(Twwasn't a shtetl, #jywas in a big city!
T wasn't a Zionist, I'1l be very frank with you, I was for &( ) charity.

Now we had what they call ¥ "Linat ha sedic"” (?) Ha sedic, you know, it was

.a hospital. We were giving to Jewish,.. oh Jewish charities were very prom-

inent, We were interested in the Jewish question, always, but it was more
local, My father was aZionist. We were too young yet, you see, There was there,
there was an element there that was more of a Socialist element, And that
Socialist element turned towards Zioniswh.

L,K. Was that before the first WorldWax®

H.E. No,no, Nothing is before the first World War. After the First World

wAr. In the twenties, in the early twenties and... 1919,1920,1922,2 and 3,

So you see, my father called them communists.,

L.B, Was your father a Chasid actually?

H.E, Yes, he had a Rebbe khat he went to.
L.B., He did?

H.E. Yah,

L,B. But he was a Zionist anyway?

H.E, ©Oh, yes.

L,B. He believed in political Zionism?
H.E., Yes, Yes.

L,B, He did?

H.E. Oh yes., Political Zionism he says... his dream was to be buried in
Jerusalem, Oh yes, oh wes. Now I had a brother who went to a special agri-
culture school in order to be prepared for Israel.

L.B. One of the Barontirsthschools was it?

H.E. No.There was a school "abronitcha"(?), that's an agriculture school. I
don't know what school. And he was in the early days, He's in New Zealand
now. So, but I had a brother who was in the first Zionist congress with my
husband., That brother that died in Vienna I told you was a doctor of law,
Who was first Zlionest congress.

L.B. So he was active in the Zionist movement! NO?

H.E, Well, in a way. I was too young to understand, I was the youngest of
all of them. I was too young to understand these things. There was definitely
Israel, there was a lot of Jewish families,those days I remember, who winding
up and going to Israel. Because anti-semitism and depression was already iﬁﬁhe
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You knew Jewish Polish families who went to Israel? 1— !55?(?“/

L] .

L.B
H.A, Oh, yeah,

L.B. So these were the upper middle class or the pooxr?

H.A., Hhe middle class. Not poor, I didn't know poor people,

L.B. You &k didn't know the poor at all? You just knew they lived in another pa-
Hx#kx part of town?

H.A, I knew., Yeah, I knew there's poverty. And we were helping them, I

have a sister

END SIDE ONE, PART ONE.

WHO LIved in Obershtater(°) had that aluminum factory, and every Frlday night.
would give fish, (Chala$) to poor families. That was the year that father had

to pay terrlflc taxds,

L,B, Now this is part of the Kehilla?

H,A, What Kehilla? Sure. We had to support the poor,

L.,B. Not to the Polish government, but to the Kehilla,

H.,A., Every Jew who made a living, who had a little more had to pay to support
the poor. Because the government didn't do anything. So the Kehilla did thas.
L.B, Did your father employ people? _

H.A, VWhen he was in business, I get to it when he didn't have it,
L.,B. But when he was in business did he have people working for him?
H.,A, Yes.

L,B, Were they Jews or nondews?

H.A, Jews, everything Jews. Exmx Emcept the Janitor, or the fellow to
construct the.... Jews., We were among Jewish people. We didn't like the
Gentiles, Now if any of h&s daughters would marry a Gentile he would sit
shiva, And I had friends i boyfriends who were gentiles. But Jjust once

iﬁp while, bul it would never occur to me to convert ot not to marry a Jew.
I was too Jewish for that., And I had friends who married Gentiles, But they
were rare cases, They would not..,. as today it is. It was not accepted,
Well, that was the good days, then a depression set ¥%.in,

L,XK. Do you remember about when it started?

H.A, Before I left there was depre351on. When I left Poland the Jews wanted
to get out of Poland, Father didn't want me to go, You see , my husband is
related sort of, inter related () Medat¥83"he knew the gz family. But my
husband in the first years, we got engaged, second years he came we got
married, It didn't Jjust come! And I never was immigrant you see, I married
an American citizen.

L.B. Oh your husband was an American born?

H.®E, No, Polish born.

L,B. But he became a citigen?

H.A. He lived in England, and he was a long time a citizen when he came to see
me. See me by zzsidwt accident. My sister was aunt by marriage to him,

L,B. To him, to your husband?

H.A, And when he came so he fell in love with me.And my father objected,

My father didn't want me to go to America, And I was the youngest and only oné,
But he compromised, he says'YOu correspong for a year, let him go back anew,"
I had a boyfriend too. That's another story, its not important.

L,B. It is important.

H.A, And he says well after a year if you both decide that you want to get
married he will come back and we will marry at home.And that's what happened.,
He came 1928 and 1929, And,..

L.X. And the depression was there before it came to Zmerica?

H.A., Yes, the depression was ... My father and mother didn't want gee MY
sisters and brotehers want to get out of Poland. I was so con..!®the
family,.. didn't know, It was very difficult, I had a boyfriend who came

Just from FEngland, he was an engineer, he specialized in England. He
finished university in Poland and specialized in England and he was in love

with me for when I wasFQ) }[He wereyschool children. And was very diffi-
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cult, I remember my sisters '"Get out! Get out of Poland."” There was already...
I remember, after one year béing in America, I came back to vislt, my mother
o died already. I came to the unveilaing., I saw... before I léft, the taxes y
@‘ were so big, the Jews were taxed so high, that they couldn't pay the taxesy
actually, they were so,.. Father used to beg us " Children don't go out *
together," we were all dressed,'because they tax me so hégh," He was actually
afraid because the taxes were going higher and higher, Hi&itadFather 4i%eady iZ...
was... when I left Father just had the house and dlittle business, thaﬂ}inen
bwspﬂﬁs'bagéngss. Small.,. he made a living, But he wasn't that ﬁﬁ“big merchant that
I remember when I was growing... He was old already.
L.B. ¥ Did they take away the kicence to be the man for the mines?
H,A, DNo, they don't take away. Father gave it to the son,my oldest brother
took over, What happened, Father lost a lot of money gwimg duringk.... during
the war... first of all during the World War I, I was told, a lot of his
stuff was confiscated by the Germans, Wagons full with coal, linens and the
Germans supposed to pay. After the war he used to go to Berlin to try to
get... the lawyers collected very little, The coal, I don't remember what
years, my father and brother were sort of yet partnership. There was a strike in
England, , _
L,B. UM, '29. There was a gemeral strike,
H.A, No, was before.
L,B. No it was ‘2&]
H,A, 'zé;fAnd they sell the coal, went to ... England bought coal in Poland,
And hy brother sent the coal to England, when they arrived in England... ofeit g
sacked—them because the strike was mamxx settled., And they lost fortunes,
B. Oh, by that time the strike.,..? It was a big strike.
A, Yeah, and ..., but this is the story. So I remember we were lucky to
pay tax moneyxﬁﬁﬁbiher would not pay taxes I couldn't get out of Poland,
@ L,B. Is that right? '
k. H,A. Sure, you had to pay taxes, you had to pay them... everything, The taxes,
E the taxes, Father always used to write me " the taxes are killing me, the
- taxes are killing me." And I remember the first year I came, RXxkx first time,
it was I think 1930, 1931, It was 1931. I saw, I got scared because I was
afraid with,,. the furniture would be out on the street,.. Furnitures were
out on the streets because the Jews couldn't pay the taxes! And if you
couldn't pay the taxes they came and they took out everything that was in
the house! '
L.B, DNow yolre talking about the Polish government taxes, no more Kehilla
taxes. :
H.A, Noyno, Polish government! The Jews were taxed highly. And they had
auctions, they used to sell, And I went to the department of treasury, I
remember, to see, Father asked me, because I was an American Thase“ﬂexe.Viu/%flﬂddi
yﬁzdbﬁwﬁﬁjn&.when_iheyﬂlived)f%ﬁfﬁngﬁpressions you know, Make sure that what the father
i paid all the taxés you see., And Father did pay. But suppose if I wanted to
prolong.,. I could have gotten it for him, if he says I couldn't pay 8 months,
or 4 months, because I have a daughter an American. And if I came an
American they were afraid of the Americans,They wanted to have with the
government a gookt opinion, Well I go back to the story of schodl, When I
was in the sixth class my nephews were pnly a few years younger because we
?  were ten children. When Mother gave bitth to me my oldest sister got
dh married. So my nephew was about two or three years younger., He was(?).»» .
They couldn't get into schools anymore, The high schools, So was the first
highschool, this is of importance, Jewish highschool, gymnasium, was opened
in Czastahova, And the director was the famous historian Professor Balabqn(?).
That was first, And this was the school that when you finished this school,
you had also acgess to any university. So they went Hebrew school,., they were
already, when I was still going to that Catholic school, they were already,
they were %x .,.. it was private, by private money. Jewish... they were already

ﬂewish gymnasium, .
B, Now what did they learn there, do you know?
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H.A, The regular curriculum,Plus,.. ' INTERV IEWER
L,B, Plus? v ,
H.A. Hebrew,no Jewish, Hebrew. }— ﬁlﬁ.@ W v
L.K, Was thekte any kind of a Zlonist orientation} in that school?

H,A, Yes. I don"t know, I don't think so, I don't think there was Zionist
orientation. But there were rwets Halutz, there were groups, there were...
L, XK. There were interests, ) '

H,A. Oh, of course there were Zionists. There were groups that were going to

as Halutzim to Israel. There were a lot of them,

L,B. You did know a lot? You're the first person we've spoken to that really
knew people that went. A _

H.A, I wasn't part of it, :

L,B. Roprrt-taxt—iotew—t e I know, but that knew people that went.

H.A, Oh,yeah., There were people. They were peoble in depression., Middle
class ptople who sold everything up an&¢he whole families.., but alas a lot
of them came back, X ,

L.B. They came back, Why? Was itnhard there?

AH.,A., Yes. Some remalned, but a lot of them came back.

L,B. This was what Bark said would happen,

L.K., I read that.

B.B. They went unprepared, : .
H,A, Middle class values..., they sold out their house holds and everything,
went to Israel, You see I didn't belong to the Halutz movement, But there
was a Ha lutz movement, And I remember we had a tenant in onr house, and
all these kids were Halutzim, My father called them the communists, you see,
so you know,,. ) '

nvm— gty : - s e

L.B. Why, but he was a Zionist? Because they were socialists.

H.A, ©Oh, were socialists.

L,B., So a socialist was a communist?

H.A, Bundist(#) socialist..,The act(? ! 0.

L.K, Yes that was frequently so,

B.A, Yes, that was my father, you know, my father was very conservative,

The bourgeois,

L.B., And what did je think of the... when the Russian revolution came, what...?
H,A. The Russian revolution didn't affect us at all,

L.,B. Not emotionally? There was no feeling? First there was the Karensky
government,

H.A., The feeling was.,.. my father had a friend who ran away from Russia,
Beautiful girl, very very elegant, very fine, very cultured. They ran away
from the Bolsheviks and they settled down in Poland, I was too young to be
concerned remember, YOu would ask my father, you would ask my older brother,
maybe they would,.,., I wasn't politically minded. I went to school,

L,B. Yeah,

H,A. you see, I wasn't politically minded at all, I told you that we lived
sheltered lives, We lived... I can only tell you how I lived, I can't tell
you,.. But there were movements, There were movements. There was Halutzim
momement, there was Zionism movement. My father was a Zionist. My brother
went,., I told you., But I was the youngest, #¥& and I ...

L.X. ILucille, the difference is jthis is the city.

H.A, A big city.

L.,B. That's right, yeah

H.A, This is the £3x@%'%ity in Poland, you see? And it was considered a big
city. I was a selfish brat, I went to school, I had music lessons, I studied
music since I was six years of age.
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And I paid.,.. We had a little conservatory in our school, it was nob a
formal conservatory, The head of the conservator& was a woman who finished
in Cgekoslavkia, conservatory. And her husband was a musician, he was a
€zech, A gentile, Newfeldt was the name. And xtk she came ham back to Czastahova
afther, and she opened a schoadl.for music, Just private school, Which were
about ten or fifteen students, And private lessons. And at the end of the year
we had = little concerts like that, Rwkxtxwosomxyxiredxguitansz But
we had very good guidance,was a AT oman, And I remember those years
we pald ten zlotas., I remember exactly because I know how much a dollar was.
Ten zlotas a lesson, for which my mother paid from the knip}e[r And a dollar
was ten zlotas., Exactly ten though, what I remember. Because when we used
to buy the high boots for the winter we had to figure it out in dollars, how
much it was. A lot of things was in dollars. What did +the Jews do? IF they
had money.., I remember my father , like after the first... during the World war
I remember the first one when I was a little girl, you know, first they con-
fiscate everything., Germans come and confiscate. The first World War I
remember, I told you about it though, we had a big store, They took away
the store. We had nobs out of metal, they took all these knobs off the door,
to making guns, to ﬂgﬁﬁﬁé ammunition! You see, that was World WarI. What did
the Jew do? He hides things., Now if we had ... every Jew if he had a little
money made a livdng, He converted, never had zlotas, he converted money to
dollars, to gold, to have security. Buy diamonds. How do you think Jews
survived all these ymaxm@xxthmk things? It's because of these things, that they
had, That was the character of the Polish Jew. x#uxAnd they had a pot made mim

G@? out of iron, an iron pot, and they buried it in the cellar. remember that .
N3N exactly. As a matter of fact I was told after the holocaust(iqukaa ey, (o n i
GusNaleic ). Her father lived in our house, that older sister of mine,and
when the Germand came, you know, the holocaust, and he was also a Career Hax
A man who had, you know Hanted to... that's how she survived, with all the jewelry
5@3’{ they had, She lived léke an Aryan (7?) you know, and survived with paying

with diamonds, She/é alive today, in New Zealand, Australia, it wasn't New
Zealand. He buried whatever he had of value under the toilet. Well,the house is
standing today, till today... You know how they found all these treasures?
After the Hews were killed? The Poles and the Germans andx¥z all this? And
when my niece who lived in Warsaw, Zenariané?),” ived, came back,she knew
that her father,and she came back in a dress made out of a blanket, because she
lost everything ( I was to send her clothes later ), and she &new that her
father buried the money under the toilet... thmxPeilwsmim the Poles took over
dhe apart... In the beginning I told you that the Poles took over, notxkim the
government, the Poles, They grabbed@ﬂiﬁi?@r ! Grabbed! I mean the Jews were
killed and they grabbed the apartment, furnitures and everything,xikmwx With

a fnife like this after her! So she ran away to save her life, And she.,. there
is the money! 'Thah will have to.,. ’

L.B.R4Q%5§%Mshe had to leave it there, So for all you know it's still there.
H.A, ure, But that's what I remember my father used to do to survive.immx
And Jews used to hide things, Jews used to bribe. With bribery you could get
anywheres, You could surbive, you didn't have to go to military service.,.., the
Russians and thePoles lived on bribery. My father had a finger like this. And
I asked him, "Daddy what is this, why, what did\h%xg?".

L.B. A bent finger. 4

H,A, ILike that, exactly, maz I remehber, it's just like that, He says" My child,
I got married at the age of seventeen, at 21 I had three children, If the
Russians would take me into the military service I would have been I don't

know how many years, I would never come back ."” They kept them for years and
years," So I went to a doctor, and he cut my tendon and crippled that finger, "
And if T crippled this finger I cannot shoot. And I never went to military serviiia
L.K. I heard many talestkx like that,

«A. You had to be so clever to outwit them. And Jews were.,

B

H
L.B. Well the ones that sarvived certainly were.




/0/(/#,61%

JNTERV IEWER
Hannah Azenberg pg. L& 19 }~ ‘E)_R‘OA/'V'

L.K, The ones that h&d money. The ones that didn't have money, no matter
how clever you were you had nothéng to bribe,,..

H.oA, V.. sterved, achally abisied,

L.B. Now did you know anything about those..,. actually werexysim you in

what was called the "Pale"? The pale of settlement or... because that was the
part where the Jew s were confined, to the pale,

H.,A, No,

L,B. You were not, You were in Poland, Now what about this large, poor,
Jewish population in Czestahova?

H.,A, In Czestahova? Well,,.. I told you. The poor were living in that

form¢&# ghetto, .There was what you call Staderanek {£) and Noveranek,
SERA8YENSK is the old ... Ofewanek 0 A

L.B. Section. , ARy L/
H.A. The old section, Jewish. Only Jewish, il W 0V t18ie ﬂﬁ‘””éaﬁl&whﬂgf
L.,K. ‘hey had their own synagogue? y Ty

H.A, Oh,yes. Ve had what they call( hemwigla aduagasosio Hesman ) Iff;,z}&

one wants to say it was a progressive, they callx it CGerman, With a famous
cantor,What was Xix®x his name? I never went to shul, you see, Oh, the famaus
cantor,.., Charly will know. My father did not go to shul. My father went to
strtebB{?) You know what a shtebl is?

B, It's a little house!
+A. A shtebl is a roon,
B. A room,
.A, Where a group of Jews had like what we hawe here, Raananah,,,
B, A study,.
H.A. No,no.., they shbdidx studied at home, Tney went to shil there, and
they had everything like we have here in Raananah, Vas oitly a group of
people, and they were,.. they conducted the services, Now, ny grandfather
was conducting... later my father was conducting, There's a group, And they
were orthodox Jews. Now, there wasanother kind. My mother again, didn't go to
to x a place like this, there were'only men, My mother went bo a regular shul,
Nice shul, you know, where there were men went downstalrs, women were up-
stairs, For the high Holidays used to come to visit, YomKippur ; you see, That
was the mi@&le class of a shul, Then there was a %@?jassimilated shul, Elegant,
like in America you see, elegant, Shuls where they had famous cantors, famous
rabbis and where they .., the element who was only professionals, most pro-
fessionals, or the xmx very rich who used to go only for the high holidays,
like in America, There were three kinds of shuls.,
L.X., And the shuls that were in the ghetto area you never saw., You don't
know what they were like,):l ‘
H.A, They were probably;in a form like my father®™; went... in their own
shul,,, in the room., I never went, . xbamwbocknenyxyeuxsrxx you see, I don't
know what they were like,
L.B, And you knew no people from there? Did you know anything, what kind of...
did they have work? Most of them were...
H,A, Ve had tenants, on the side I told you they were smaller, So there were
poorer pepple,: ' '
L.B. ¥hat did they do for a living?
H.A, But you see how they lived, They could have,,, a shoemaker. A shoemaker
and a tallor was considered low, HNobody was proud to say my father,is a
shoemaker. Here you are proud to say my mother was a dress makerﬁgy father

was a cutter, You know,,, this is... not now! This is the time Qhen I lived,
When you say my father was a scholar, my father was a yeshiva boucher, you had
respect! Was for schooling, no matter how poor you are, you had respect. The
laborer, you know, they lived in the one room, and a little kitcheh, And that
one little room the children and the father and the mother and they slept, and
they worked there, and they had”hhg&; workshop there, and that'’s how they lived,
And some lived in cellars, ‘In_Fastour shoemaker lived in a cellar, I used to
€0 thexe, He used to make me shoes to order. To order shoes!

L.B. Vas there a large per centage of unemployed amongst the JewsR there, do

Yyou remember?
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Did you ever hear? L I:ROVVIK/
H.A, The majority of Jews I knew were merchants. fx VWhebher they ‘wére big
merchants or small merchants, used to go to the shetl andmake ten zlotas to
buy... used to buy... come to my father and buy one piece of linen. He was
a merchant. Then he went,.,. cut the linen, went to the peasants, went to small
towns and that's how he make a living., They were peddlars., They were merchants
and they were peddlars. And the working people,,. I had kmxik=dixymuy a tailor,
he was a very rich tailor, Cxank@NNEea” mBAPERLS G 18 P Wit S , I
was told that he was alive because the Germans liked him work to such an
extent, he was making uniforms during the holocaust,
L.B, Uhat's his name?
H.A., Katz., In Czestahava.
L,B. Alright. I think I read about him, Bo ahead.
H.A., And this Katz made me my trousseau, He made me a coat , and a sudt, its
%k like building a houlse. He used to go twice to Paris and get the journals,
he would be the biggest designer, And then he was a tallor! But he only
catered to the people who could afford, If I pal& for a suit those years, for
making a suit with my material, the material came from England, it was building
a house! English. If I had a .dress it was crepe de Chine, which the crepe de
chine came from France. And the dressmaker was a designer,yhe had a journal,
you picked a sleeve from this and dhe color from this and that, and she made you.
Tt is something out of this world., The dressmaker was a gentile woman,Klaus,
her name was, Klausov. I pay 5%..., 30 zlotas for making me a dress with
embroidery with what not, which would cost me here hundreds of dollars, I cen nw
not afford the clothes here. & '
L.B., That's a dztdax $1.30.
H.A, No, 3 dollars.
L.,B, 30 zlotas, :
H.A. A dollar was ten zlotas in my time, I only,.,. mind you, I am only telling
you what I remember in my time. Because there were different times,
L.,B. So you paid 30 zlotas. ‘
H,A., 30 zlotas, 3 dollars, That Katz, to make a suit, first he made the canvas,
Then you tried it. And then he was... And they mwmmiimms five times, 3 ‘bines,
four to %five times... he charged me for the suit that I came to America, my
father, my trousseau, a hundred zlotas. Which was a lot of money. It was ten
dollars, It was a lot of money in those days, I don't remember how much
food cost because I mever went shopping. We would like to compare how much
a bread cost, but I couldn't tell you that, Because I never went shopping, ’
E.B, Did you ever go hungry?
H.A, Never. I told you . I tell you a story that you wouldn't hear//.
Not only did I not go hungry, but I xagax was a spolled @rat, I told you that.
Those years I had a better life thas I have it here., x¥x Not in one respect,
I didn't have so many dresse&, I didn't have so many.,.but what I had was
of the best and of a very occasion(?y , and I was a very well dressed woman,
I had a good schooling, I had private tutors for music, private tutors for
French, there were maids in the house, and if I had to go to ladame Klaus, to
Klausova, for a dress,so the concierge's léttle girl was carrying\the package
pecause I would ride back, VWhen my mother went to the market to buy ... I
tell you how food came, When to market she had a big basket like we have for
clothes., There were ten children, that'zs a lot of them, and grandchildren, a
lot of food had to be bought. And nobody was hungry., So that basket the
cook, not the maid, we had a " yiddeshe kerchen" a cook,
L,B, Jewish cooks,
H.A., Yes, And we had a peasant gird who slept in our house who cleaned.
L.B, And did the heavy work, . pta 7éw4gzzb?
H.A, There was plenty heavy work, because there was no vacuum cleansrs, (24 )
It was a heavy brush that you had to.,. the canpets were not all over, it was
like linoleum,and dhen the dining room(?) and it shined like mirror. The

carpet was &n the Salon, The mmall carpets, like throw carpets were in the
bedroom, The diningroom was a big table that L0 people could sit at. Sugar
was in the dining room locked with a key.
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There was no Rxkadgx Frigadailre. Food. was béing sent downstalrs?hxﬁﬁ%.cellar,
was cold, that was perishable. In the bathroom hanging fhem from the window,
The bathroom, this was to put certain things, food, you know, Cooking was on
the coal, To cook for a meal, the main meal was 3 o'clock, when we came back
from school, so cooked for hours and hours. So the maid was cooking, you
know, there was something to cook, you know, :
L,B. But the maids were Jewish, The cooks were Jewish.
H.A. Ofgourse, we always had a Jew cook, But the gentile did the haxd work,
To wash, there was no laundry that you giY? away. So you, I remember, I used
+to run away from the house when it was tte washing week, There was a laundress
" QC* coming and put haidex baiya(?) it was a wooden pot, big wooden tub, and we
- had it in that bathroom I told you ... it's a big bathroom, And she washed,
and washed by hand., '
L.B, On a wash board.
H,A, On a wash board scrubbing. And then a big pot, iron pot, was on the
stove and that wash was put on the stove and boiled, And the house was full
of steam you could die!
L,K, Just how my mother described it. }
H,A. And that's how it was, That was the first theee days. The fourth day,
and then you hang up the clothes, The hang up was on the roof, Not on the
roof, "liokura”, see like you have two floors, right? Then is a little step,
goes up' and there is...like an attic, it's not an attic, but there you put
the lines mg on and everything. It's not on the outside, it's on the inside,
SutxrhmookEnchExetathrsxiwies But there where the clothes dries,see? So
the clothes dries, then she take, The woman comes, a fat woman, Polish woman,
peasant woman, comes and she folds up and she goes to the mangle . You
mangle the clothes.
L,K. A mangle was not an the house though.
A, No, you had to go to mangle and feed it by hands,
,B. But they were already dry when she mangled them?
A
B

. Yeah, they were dry byt she had to mangle them,

., That's like an iron then?
¥gn,L,K, Yeah,
H.A, Tae mangle was operated by hand, by the people who came to mangle and you
paid the fellow who owned the mangle. After they came home then they start
ironing. For instance to repair there was hakakushx "habatishkas" ., Clothes
were not thrown out, there was no waste. Linens would get.., and we were
linen business, but still suppose it gets torn we didn't do the work, don't
you see, we have people do it, But it was done. So we had a seamstress come
for a week every three months. A poor Jewish girl, Jewish girl., We'd call
her "miss® . We'd call her "miss" you see. The maid you didn't call "miss", by
the first name, But there , you see, a seamstress is a "Miss", "Pano", "Pana",
"Panyenka", you know, So she used to patch up the linens, the sheets, the
pillow cases, patch up,every... was such a babatishkatxyz in our house hold,
And every thing was...l remember in the beginning she used to make me
brassieres, I didn't... I was ashamed when L was young. So I asked her , from
linen $hat should press it down so it shouldn't show, So that was done and
she ate with us, And we paid her for whatever it is.
L.,B. You don't know what they were paid,do you?
H.A, I don't even know what we paid the maid, The maids were slaves, Axdx@x
And I tell you a secret, most of these maids came with bastards. They had
children., They left their children with their mothers or the grandmother, and
they al% came from various villages, They were not city people., The city
personahgé a worker. All the other domestics came from villages., And they,
in order to support thelr child,they had to go to work., Most of them went as
wet nurses, You know, I was brought up by a wet nurse, I was the tenth child,
my mother didn't,.. I was brought up by my wet nmurse, She used to take)?) me




ﬁi’fﬂ»m‘

l?ﬂ?ﬁEPTV 1EWER
L EROW’
along when I was a big'girl already. She stayed with us many years, later

as a maid,
She lived in your house?
Where do you think she lived? You think she had a room?
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B
A
B, No?

A, HNo, See, you had a kitchen,..
B, ©She slept on the oven?
A
u
X
A
X

-

No,no, You have a kitchen , it's not like you see here , in small towps
have ovens like this, we were civilised, I told you , it was modern,
. Was it a tile oven?
. What?
K, Was it one made out of tile?
H.,A, Yes, A tile oven was in every room to heat the rooms in the winter. It
was a procedure, if you want to know I tell you. But the kitchen oven was
a tile oven, but it was iron on the top, ANd you had to make fire, You put
a piece of paper first and then a few pkeces of wood and light a match and
then a pgece of coal, And it was going all day long.And then you had a big
table like we have where there was the work, Then there was a sink, And
the sink was faugjcet, we had the water. The water was going by a pump that
was in the yard, went by electricity and had a tank upstairs and if the tank
was full we had the water, To heat water you got to heat it.yourself. So, v
in order to wash dishes you had a big basin, The procedure, it lasted hours!
You warmed the water, you put the water in +the place &nd then how the dishes
were washed, Who washed dishes? I wouldn't wash dishes, I wouldn't(?) be
caught in the kimxxdx kitchen, I wouldn't be caught dead, The maid, It was
the lowest work you can imagine,
L.B, Now you started to tell us where the wet nurse lived, Did she live in the
kitchen then?
H,A. Oh, well I tegl you, “™That was the kitchen.ihma Whenever it was like a
$AG8425™ sort of this, That was the kitchen, where the dishes were., Food
was not,in the &iltchen. Food was not., Then behind the door there was a bed.
In the kitchen, and that... it was warm in the winter time, And there where she
slept. And there was a healthy 18 year old...with the red cheeks... a pleasure
to look at., And they were clean, they were hard workers. So that's how it was,
Food, milk, mg days., I'm telling you my days, don't confuse the situation becaus’,
later has changed, So it's a different world, But in theses days, milkmen,
like Sholom Aleichem, Fiddler on the Roof, exactly the type like that, With a
hat like this, with everything which you've seen on the stage. Now-hals (r~/
with the big can, measures: we used to get 3 quarts mR a day. And we used to
boil that milk, You boil it and the top, I used to Imwmxthmximy like the
top, I used to love that top.
L.K. You'l& float it on top of the coffee? . &thV””£LU
H.A., Yeah., But my mother used to have use for that (°) and my mother used
to. give me a little. That's when they..., when you boil that milk that,that,
the coffee was with,..
L,B., Skim,
L.K. They had a name, What was the name?
H,A, Kojoof(?)
L.,B, Kojoof?
L.K, No, it had another name too,
H. A
L.X

t“tﬁb‘%?b‘tﬂt‘*mb‘

. Oh,we called 1t"KOJoofu bn»,/

. In yiddish it was the hatela, the skin.

H.A, The skin,*kojoo"has another meaning,"kojoo'means a heavy coat like, that
the peasants used to wear, lined with sheep lining, And that's how milk came.
Food, How did food come? Butter, eggs, used to come from a farmer, used

to bring it to the house, or used to go to the market place, but the women,
Peasant women uzmdxtw came with their wares from the village, On the market dajr
They were twice a week, 4 think Wednesday and Friday, if I am not mistaken,
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Y~ Friday I remember exactly in the war. And they were selling fresh right,.. \Nﬁ\
\{y milky oh, not milk but eggs, butter and cheese, you know, (?) meat, Meatf QQSD
N =& used to buy, they used to buy live geese, live chickens, went to the
@ 2 M used to kill it, you know the ritual kosher. And used to cléiil”"a.t hront
' home, but there was plenty of ffod, Matzohs, we had in the city, our matzohs
™ were known(#J ; , in the whole Poland. There was the machine, They had
there was the ﬁamous, finest matzohs, Matzohs came by the "pooﬂ" "POqé"
is the 40 pounds. We were a large family, there were 2 or 3 Pogis, can
you imaginé 80 pounds of matzohs? And came in a sheet, put on a clean sheet,
and the fellow brought on this, and we had in the foyer a big closet, and
that's where the matzohs were, for the holidays. The eggs came by the 'shok”.
"Shok of eggs was sixty eggs, was a shok,
L.B. Where were they stored? In the cellar?
H.A, I don't remember that, L-guesdfiBSy were not stored, We didn't buy
a shok of eggs, only for the holidays.,But for the holidays, Otherwise I don't
know how mother stored... But I remember for the Passover holidays, you know,
the children came, the grandchildren, and then every Jewish family had a soldier
or two to Pesach, to the tablef(
L.,B, #Af A Jewish soldier? . ,
H,A. Sure, of course., For the holiday. So, mother used to go to‘Kushnerkaf

we call it
L,X. I recognize everything you're talking about, My mother talked about
1t, She came from Betshe, Vi rebew ( wEioruwr)

H.A, Yeah, to "Kushnerka". A "kushnerka" was a baker, a bakery that used
to bake macaroons, and the sponge cakesam and chalah, everything for the holi-
days. We used to go, bring all the ingredients and she did all the baking
and then we brought it home. That's how it was our household, Dinner was
at 3 o'clock, If I came home at 3:30 I didn‘t get dinner. The maid would
not sexrve me, 3 o'clock the table was set, our school finished 2:30, by
Jo'clock we were home. Was table set beautifully, And dinner was very nice,
there was soup, xhm mExuExmtakie ther wa§<?eat, there was vegetable,
there was a salad, Oh, and desserts. We icécCream every day., We went spec1a11
7 {5} to special places to have a (7) /odi yit means a word for icecream, It was
-a holiday you know, We had ITtaléan in those days, it was from Italy, Italian
ice cream, But there was beautiful food in our household., But people eat rye
dxy¥ bread, you know, I don't have to tell you. And then after Father closedy
from & 1:00 to 3:00 shops are closed, every business is closed,
L,B, This is Jew and Gentile?
H.A, Jew and Gentile, right. Father had dinner with us, Main meal was at 30'-
clock, afther Father went to lie down. "Kozetka", kozet is from French comes
a little sofa like, in his bedroom, Every bedroom looked like that, had always
a kozetka, And he lie down to sleep, and we were quiet. I did my home work
or whatever, you know, And the maid took off and cleaned, it took her half a -
‘day to clean, At night there was a small snack. You know, at 8o'clock, in the
evening, we ate.
L,B, Now what did your mother do while your father was napping?
2. HJA, My mother was helping. No, my mother was helping in the bu51ness. Vhat
" my mother dld. .. First of all, I was the youngest and was already (&3 clne 2l fumd-
so it wasn't, I don't remember the days, you know how it happened to Jewish
families when they were, in Europeééw&en there were alot of children, One
child took care of the other. You Iy mother would take care of ten children,
or even we had to.,. Now I remember I had a sister Faula and she used to
dress me up with ribbons and she... I was a baby, you know, One took care of A
the other, you see. But mother was helping father a lot in business., My
mother, She shopped for the family, looked... she used to send me to the
kitchen, "Taste it, tell me what's missing"., But the cook cooked! But I
had to know, to tell her, I should know how to manage, you see., And,.. what
vere we talking about?
_égB. What your mother's role was.
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H.A., Yeah, my mother's role, I don’t mimix remember ever Mother cleaning.
Gooking yes, ¢23Friddy{ She was helping. The chalahs were baked at home,
Didn't buy chalahs, Cakes were baked at home, Was made fish, and the fish
was so beautifully made, Now we made gefilte fish, the gefilte fish was Tiehe
done in one. '

L,K, Like the shape of a fish.,
H.A. The shape of a fish. Now for instance a big ple, to save the skin,
filled in and saved in one big...

L.k, And the head and the tail,

H.A. And the head and the tail and that's how we cut it, And it was...

L.K. I wonder, did you have, like if you cooked on Friday, was the meal taken
to the local bakery and put in hés oven to keep hot until Saturday night?
H,A, No., In small town some people did it. They would have (R)lcholegT things
1ike that, we didn't have it, I told you, the children mzxm wouldw@at it.

We wouldn't eat this type of food, so we never did. But a lot of people did
it, But we had a gentlle shiksa, The light, you know, she lit it and she,
but no cooking on Saturday. So, that's how it was.

L.B, Iet's see if there's anything else that we want to know., It's really
a fascinating story. Everything you told us, it's wonderfjul!
Hx#x _

L.K, You really know exactly what we wanted to hear about,

L.B, Yeah, you really did! ’

L.K. And that;s very unusual.

H.A., I can talk for five, six days! But you better tell me what you want to
know.

L,K. Exactly what you've told us. What your life was like,. what the town
was like,
H.A. But when I left, I want %o specify now, because I might give you too
much of a pink picture.

L,B. No, it's dead, the life 1is dead!

H,A, The life is dead, Lt was a beautiful life., Do you know, I give you
something, and that I give you very confidentially. Sometimes, you know,
one doesn't sleep, and so I close my eyes and say, let me think of something
pleasant I should fall asleep, And so help me God, that I tell you the truth,
and I think of my child hood.

"L,B. You know something, you're not the only one.

H.A. I think of the dates I had, the boys I met, It's nothing sexual, because
we were very romantic peop}e those years, Do you know when we got together
we sang, we read poetry. It doesn't exist! Very romantic., Everything. I
put a picture,,, I had a boyfriend who was in love with me for years, He
wrote poetry to me, FYut me on a pedestiﬁc I + doesn't exist, No sex. If

I kissed, yes I was maybe kissed once or twice, but it only was the hand,
but that I have forgotten., And then I got married. I can assure you I was

a virgin,

L,B, How was it..,When you came here then TrxAsxnaxExEIRIentt , there was
no difficulty with passage here,

A, I was the wife of an American citizen.

B, So you Jjust came?

A, I have never been immigrant, I traveled the first class. I came here.
tell you, I had a very interesting incident.

B. let me make sure there's time.

,A. There probably isn't ...

B, I want to hear what happened when you came here,

H,A. Vhen I came here we had a three month honeymoon trip, Now who, what
immigrant had such life? I told you, it sounds too rosy, and I don't want you
to have a wrong opinion that I give you such a beautiful picture, but it's
dhe truth, what I had, I told you, my husband came to Poland and we got
married, we had three month honeymoon, Ve wexe in Paris, we were in Vienna,
we were in London, ge had friends all over . We were not in Italy. We were
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5/in Paris. Parls and London, we stayad,.. and Budapest., Some friends of hés were
,,%izudying)( Dr. Friedman, in 2% o‘}vﬁ/«ww Wt akuds ﬁé”‘f’fé‘ﬁt to see them. Vienna we were,
And November 12 we got married. The wedding was at home, just the family, you know,
T wasn't even wearlng gown, that's how modern we were, We went to the rabbi, the
rabbi of Czestahova was Rabbi Ash, Was very well known in the family and he was a
friend of ours, so wex went there and my little nieces were flower girls, You
know how could you go therg, you didn't go by car? "Drgyshka, druxshka', you know,
1like a coach, K% married™off, we came home, the reception was home. We left then
and we,... the guests, we “said goodbye, we went to Warsaw, to the American Consul, and
then we took our trip! We came here the 8th of January, 1

980
. o ) \
L.B. Your husband was already establlshedvhere. 'EQ; \@=f30uzx3<kl

Hannah Azenberg Pg.25

H.A, My husband was manager of Camp Bedeitminc,
‘L.B., 1I'm sorry?
H.A, My husband was always in the same posistion, I married him,..
L.B. The manager of what? )
H.A, Camp Bowoerick, you know, the Camp._lboybertek, 60\}(,(\0‘(-« [,7)'.0\\/ bevick ,7_1
L.X. I have friends that went to that camp.
H.A., Yeah, yeah!
. L.K, My friend Sophie went there.
g L.B. Where is the camp?
A L.K., I don't know but Sophie always told me about it. Viv
§\ H.A. Yeah, its one of the better Jewish gapps, , It's the Iver 2} camps.
* Jewish —€25W55¢n&%4ﬁ{nstétute/ You know %ﬁzcame hanager of Unser camp. I was
there 25 years, after there. When I came he was an executive, he never was a worker,
even,., in England, As a matter of fact when I came here the organization made us

a banquet of 300 people, and 300 people came to look me over! "What sort of a gal did

he Bring?" And he was watched and he was a very handsome man as a young man, and he

was an executive., What didx¥x was it about me?

L.B, So you came right into the Jewish world?

H.A, Right away, to a different environment.

L.B, But it was the Jewlsh world.

H.A, E%%i&ﬂ&“speaking,xxﬂdxixxmxid camp, and I would have to speak Yiddish. So, you kn

know, my husband gave me a teacher, I have forgotten his name, d&ho became, this man -

who was a counselor in camp those years and he was a foreign correspondent in Russla

for the New York Times,

L,B, And you can't remember hés nmame?

H.A, Charlie maybe remember, He used to teach me,

13. Not Schwartz?

H.A, No,no, It had a Russian name, Russian sound. He taught me Yiddish, to read a X

little, See, I tell you, why didn't I know Yiddish?. Mother, Father didn't not

want... I dida't want to. DMy father begged me, all my other sisters knew. As

the youngest, L told you, that spoiled, more assimilated, went to gentile schools.

You see, Father sent me a Rebbe, a Jew, to teach me Ivre (Hebreﬁ?),-to teach me

Jewish, I should know how to davin % I skw¥x should know this. So that Jew,

I sound very anti-semitic so don't ...

0 L,B., Speak up, what you said...

.1‘ H.A, So this fellow, were poor people, they were so poor, these teachers, bhese

Y belfors(?) ., He was a Chalactic, you know, a long this, satin, and it was
shiny from dirt and from perspiration, he had pais, and he stunk, That's true .4l
couldn't do it. Cheder we didn't go. Boys went to Cheder, girls didn't go to Cheder.
There was an attitude in Poland those years, in this type of family, that the girl
doesn't have to know., If she wants it, fine. But she had to know French, She had
to play the piano, she had to be, B*Ehe“has to get married. And marry properly, the

.same type of a family that she comes from, That's what it was. So that's the reason
I didn't know. My father didn't feel good aboult it, because my brotherswent to
Yeshivas and finished yeshivas and finished highschool and universitles. And I was
the only one whom my sisters needed, 7

L.B, There was a good reason by thexwmzy way.
H,A, That's it. So what did the fellow do? He taught me kmocspmak how to speak
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and what do you think we weré discussing, world situation,.. . B @wuijt)
L,B., In América, now? SIS Y’
H,A., In America, T learned very little, So I came to 5 there were all
viddish speaking peopié, Charly? I was worried abobt you. And all Jewish people.
and so I stayed a year there, and then I went back, I went back to my mother's un-
veiling, And then when we came back... this is my husband... '
T never, when I was on the border, I never went to Poland back, I never will go to
FPoland. I have no use for it.

' L,K, Isn't that interesting Iu, My mother's attitude...

L.B, DNo, it's very. sedersesisbie, I think it's very understandable,
H.A, Well you understand, because of the holocaust, Because what they've done,
L.B

Even before.
L.K, It was before the holocaust. Because of the anti-semitism she experienced, If

' there was a Holy day, if there was a holiday, they had to hide because they didn't

dare to go out on the streets.

Your mother,when did she come? What

year? o

é.K. When did Mother come to America? Oh, it had to be 1914, It had to be 1914,
A, ' I don't know, ' :

K., NOjyeuo

A, Ehgxxxxiiyxhxﬂxﬁxﬁﬁﬁxxxxxxxﬁxxgxxxxxxixx Every city had different problems.

In every city it wag d'fferent. In every city it depended where you lived, what

address you had, Rk@leeeyour friends. Every body will tell you a different story.

L.,B., Se¥tmeyxtakda Tell,me, take me back to Camp B?ygrick and did you learn

H,
L,
H,

Y. Yiddish?

H.A., Well, they spoke Yiddish, but I was there a year only, I went back to Poland
first time for my mother's unveiling. I was ea%§731)“”ef%§§ﬁe back 1% o . . ‘3
L,B. Oh, and then you came to Unzer Camp? A

H.A, It was a beautiful camp. My husband was there seven years,

L.B. And you had how many children? You had how many children here?

H.A, Two,

1,B, Two. This girl...

H,A, A dasghter and a son,

L.B., And a son,

H.A, My son is a producer on Broadway, and she is married to a producer on T.V,,

in California.,

IB, Did you have any theatrical feelings in Furope?

H.,A, No, To my father theatrical feelings were bad. Jewish fheater wasn't good,
because Jewishkx theathr was for 59 %Q%br kooks, for..

L,B. For the niddl8Class. )

H.A., TFor the low., So we went to the igé urk Pro Guo , and this was
the higher theater. Local , steady (?7) theater now said he wasn't., so we went to
different, SswxyywuxzEmX S0, YOU Seey. -

L.B, He was not a Yiddishkite person then, really.

H,A, Who?

L,B, Your father,

H.,A., Yes he was.

L,B, No,

H,A, Yes he was, but...

L.,B., Did he read the Yiddish authors?

H,A. Of course!

"L,B, He did read Yiddish !

H.A. Of course, we had a "Heint", that was a Jewlish paper from Warsaw, "Heint",
L.B., Today,

H.A. Of course? He was, I told you, he was an orthodox Jew! A learned orthadox

.y
(0]
=
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L.B, But a learned orthodox Jew is not neccessarily a Yiddishist.

L.K. At that time I think yes, Lu,

L.B, "~No.? We don't know,

H.A, Well, it was the children who are not, Not he. He spoke Yiddish.

1.B., It's not that he spoke Yiddish, but there were writers coming out in Yiddish
at that time, there was a revival of the Yiddish language, of the interest in the

Yiddish danguage and the Yiddish culturef
H.A, My father had plénﬁ#éﬁgﬂ#6¥k. He was in business, my father alwsays travelled,

was sO busy, this one was sick or this one was this. or that , that he couldn't
concentrate on literature. What he concentrated was on Talmud. And on Saturday he
studied.,
L.B. All right, Tnat's what I 'm saying. Right. _
He studidéd Talmud, he went to Shul, But I wouldn%t say he was a Yiddishist, no.

So this is more Hebrew. Right. Therls a difference, that's all.

You see, the Yiddishistswere... '

Was more the Socialists. Right. ’

The Bundists, the kibbutzim, they spoke Hebrew and they spoke Yiddish.
* That's right, there's a difference, that's what I'm trying to bring out.

And we were not. No, no, and this is ... So theater, we didn't go much.
A See but the Bundists would have gone to the theater,
& H.A, Yeah, But my father wouldn't look at Bundists. (?) .- was the

" leader of the Bundists, *-*
Now, here you have it , so the Jewish theater was in the lower ,cide$er sphere, I
told you, it was in the lower classes. S0, what means you go Xk to the opera in
“Warsaw., How often did we %mgm go to Warsaw? So Father didn't go to the theater
altogether, Tather never went to a movie! H e said What do we need a movie for?
But he used to go, when he used to go x to the movie he went to,Ag}u»dwf,ﬁzuduJVbJVEQﬁAHD
-3 probably he went, but it was against his religion!to go to a movie, it wasn't...
v T don't ever remember my father going to a movie, we went! So he would kid us
"I make you a movie at home". So he would make this...

-
-

R T R

b‘ﬂ:b*?it*Z:tT::

-
-

L,B., Shadow,

H.A. “ihy do you go to a movie, we don't need itt"

1,B. But you went to the movies?

H.A. We went to concerts)ﬁé went to movies,

L,B., What movies did you see? Do you remember?

H.,A, American,

L.B, American movies., Do you remember what movies you saw? :

«, H,A, I remember the movie... As a matter of fact I even sang the somg recorded

' “1\5'3:& (?) (huns tune).
iy L.B. Oh,"He's My Man!

H.A, "He's MMy Man"!

'L,B, With Fanny Brice.

H,A, Right, Fanny Brice!

L.B. I can't remember the name of the movie .

H,A, I remember all the movies, a movie we went to one day... But a movie was some-
thing we made an appointment, went to the movies, it was not,it was a bdg event,
But then we had Cabarets, you see, where you sat, and you see most of it was a lot
LQ{;_'of dancing. Five o'clock tea, used to go éance! In the hotels, or you went to the
s (?) , and in the afternoons, kthEcdmirxs you sat the whole afternoon and you
mnty ordered just a half a cup of coffee, And if you had a little “bichasko", it
means a little pastry, you sat for three fours you saw your friends and everybody
- came and greeted you, you had a wonderful time/ That's... like in Israel now, Same
thing/ Like you had in Israel, the people sit on the street, and the coffee houses,
_ the cafes, that's how it was, But there, there were times that, in better places,
hotels, there was orchestra playing, And it was five o'clock, or five to seven.,
And people asked you to dance and you danced, you got your coffee,,, it was all
beautiful, Then there were cabarets where famous writers wrote, and there were
always satires, Satires on the governments and sdtires on this, And it was the
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N “‘M“de“?uo . And that was the type of...

p L.B. Was Qud fro Quo a theater or a Cabaret?

%g' H .

- L,B. It was a Cabaret?

H,A, That was the revues, , They.had the revues, people thought to be a revue too,

‘ akz’ééééﬁ;
But you see opera was not to average people, you know.
H.A., Price and besides you didn't live all the time, well of course I used to
visit once in a while, I used to go. But for most of them it was cafe liked, of
cabaret music was liked very much, but that's about all, Father never went to these,
~The majority of Jews didn't go to the gheater, or didn't go go cabaret, it was
only the upper class.
L,B,  Now cabarets wexe run by whom? By Jews or by Poles?
L,B. It would be interesting to know, But they spoke Polish, the shows were in

« 4 Dolish, eberything was in Polish. The muséc was Polish, ) L

o S HAL 3 No. Thuuinablis, Tchélsvoky, Tnternational my dear, it was LadarSsls who

o Q?%/%;iz o%e %f?ub
international, Chopin, WE were brought up on Chopin, Yas vexry important. Any
cultured people knew music, international muséc. Wé didn't know exactly American,
even Jazz came., I remehber, I must t&ll you, this is interesting, I was'at that time
mountains, it's like here, Iake Placid, even nicer because we were in the Gagae&an(brfaﬂﬂkw
mountains and the hotel,,, And there in that hotel they had English, American Jazz,.
‘Negro, You see how narrow minded we were those years in a way, towards Negroes, that
with a Negro at the table., And I tell you the truth, I said the same thing,
L.K. Had you seen Negroes in Poland before?
H.A., Very few. That first time I saw it was in that Zakopania, once, #never saw
L,B, You don't remember the name of the group, do you ?
H.A, No, no, : '
L,K. How did it sound up there to you? The Jazz Sound? :
be surprised at all the cabaret songs, all the dances, all these tﬁﬁi@&i within one
year they came there,
L.B. Oh, Foland was not a backwater. There was one part of Poland that was and, ,,
Véénna,
L.B, They took over immediately what came from Berlin....Right.
H, A, Ther%vwere parts of Poland that there was feudal system yet. Which I don't know
cities like Varsaw, Lodg,Czestahovag Czacow, Lumberg, these were the cities were
very ingernational, There @b . travelled to Paris, travelled to Vienna, brought
Phe styles in and what you could afford, led a decent life,
went to the Carpathians on vacation.
H,A, Yeah, once,
L,B, Only once?
my slster, to most people to go to Crenitza,we go TxtmXX As a child ¥g used

£ S - X »‘Qu. ) Ut 1) ot ? s 00 & ]

A?O go to ﬁig$§$§¥%sn, éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi:an,ééﬂ, all these places that were,., parents for
instance, my parents had ten children rifht? So the family with a Jewish "kirchen"
fanily. The house belonged to the peasants., 58 the summer they moved into the stable,
and what consisted of two rooms and a Ritchen maybe. And a porch., So we stayed there

Tor the summer, we went in the woods, away from the city for the summer, in the

L BrownN
. Cabaret.

L,B, Why, because of the...?
It was we children, but we were very assimilated. We travelled, we were assimilated,
H.A, That I don't know,
was, it was Rubenstein, it was uaoaééﬁwwﬁﬁ%'wr e famous opera, It was
almost engaged to him. We were in for a holiday in Zakopania (% in The*e&ﬁieéﬁanf‘kjhﬁly
we were discussing it at the table, We liked the Jazz to dance but we wouldn't sit
Negroes, Only once, I saw it once.
H.,A, Well, we wanted to be modern. Foxtrot, we knew, and Charleston, and,,. You'd
H,A, One part of Poland was 16th century and one part of Poland was Berlin and
because whollived in these places, you know you could telli%” but the cityes, big
L.B. T want to a3k you something, I want‘to see if I have time. You say you

3 H,A, Yeah, Only once. I tell y§u I was engaged that time to Charly, I tell you,
with a Jewish cook, they took a wooden house iy the middle 65 the woods for the
pine woods, e used to pick mushrooms and berries and even lunches were brought




q

g \’%J; < INTERC IEWER

\€“> N Hannah Azenberg pg. 29,
- & @éﬂ)w Fef L

;§y‘ up to the woods, the maid used to bring them, Fat?zf)zgd Mothexr take the one child

v

alone, and since I was the youngest, they took me.! Mariva, Landic (? ), these were
thexgkazzs ctire ﬁg& places. And they used to go for the stomach ailments, for this
ailment, for that ailment, you know, they claimed the waters used to go and
healthy, We have pictures with the glass.
L,K, Like at Saratdga Springs.
H.,A, VWith the glass, you know, these tubes, But most of it,., but Zakopanaa was
in the winter time, And people, there was a lot of consumption in Poland, Clamate,
- If you know these, there were reasons, It's not a lack of food so much, because it
happened in the middle class and upper middle class. You see, the clamatic conditions
were very bad, There was no steam heak, There were those,.. every room had a,
made out of "katchle"."Katchle" is like my bathroom =k is made out of,
.L.B, bt s, You're talking about the tile, .
"H,A, Tlle. In the ‘corner was a big, they were beautiful, theyywm were beautiful
those...
L,X, They were stoves, tile stove.
H.A, Stoves, MNow school, for instance where I went had central heating. It was a

N

N rarity. But I heard of central heating in school, not home, So , if I tell you

that in the winter time,,.we had two entrances, the servant entrance (?) , ..
because our apartment was mede from two apartments, We were the landlords, we had

- a large family so we were five rooms, So I remember on the side was the &itchen,
the kitchen was always warm in the winter time, because the stove was going on all
the time., And when one came from the foyer to the dlnlng room, ® was a big room,
was a long foyer, I saw icicles,

L.B. 1In the house! :

HK.A, In the house.In the winter, How oftem in the toilets the water froze in the
winter time, or the pipes, That's how cold it was. So what was the procedure?

The procedure was to heat up the apartment or you freeze right? So you heat up
the big stoves., The maid used to go t o the cellar. The coal, used to buy it by
the wagon, full wagon stored cellar to the ceiling for the winter, because we were
fortunate, People, not everybody was fortumate at that time. And they used to-%gﬁag

\m%\tﬂe bucket, used to bring it up and used to heat up these ., Now since we had so

“many rooms, not all the rooms were heated up, So first the Salon, the livingroom,

" which was not used only until, unless guests come, My father had hés own..., the bed-
rooms were heabed, the diningroom was heated, Now, suppose you wanted to go from
one room to another, the change of temperature was terrific., There was a lot of
colds. A lot of tuberculosis...

L.B, Tuberculosis is transmitted by bacteria.

H.A, Yeah, but it starts with a cold.

L.B. You were probably more susceptible to it then,

H.A, Yeah, but of course by bacterdd,,. there was a lot of tuberculosis Xhux.
So, Zakopania was the place where people used to go, with high..

B. Mountains,

A, Altitude,

+B. This is in Poland?

A, This is Poland, famous place. Zakopania every body knows where Zakopania is,

In the Carkathian mountains. Its a Switzerland. W

L.B, I wonder if this is the place that Kwatler was telllng us thatwhear him.

Now I can't remember, the names,you know, escape me. It was a famous resort.

HiA, He's Silesian, Galiicin'

L.B. Yes but he was on the border of the Carpathian mountains, and he said there

vas a very famous resort town,

\fK HiA, Zakopaniam mmy maybe. And there was a famous place, Rthmzk Othotzk (?) is near

also. And there were all these wooden,,, n® 4 £33 Jewish people. And so near
Czestahova, not far we used to go for the summer. There are miles and miles of plneLﬂQSX)
On,its the most beautiful, the Polish are ﬁﬂ)ve&j {oud y» 1t was written in a book
about them and translated into languages, and dry. And all during the holocaust

you know the underground was all through these... '
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S50 in these woods, so as Ic§?¥ Qﬁ}ived there, but a lot of Jewish ﬁéoﬁlé}kChasid—
in I saw, the young ones, 4#a*4§§§=& lot of them were,..
L.X, Consumptive, : :
H.A, Consumptive, So many you can tell, A lot of Jews were consumptive, young
ones, yeshiva boucher,...
L.B, Tuberculosis was known as the Jewlsh disease.,at that time,
H.A., Well, so here you are. So they used to come to these woods, to the pkne
woods for the summer because the air was good. The air was good, No pollutlon,
-L,K, They probably could breath better.
H.A, They could breathe better, there was no pollution there you see, and the
~ woods were pure, virgin woods, beautiful woods. And Zakopahia again 1ls for the
o winter, Used to go up I remember, I came to visit a sister of mine, a sister in
law of mine, that first time I got a picture on skis. Never did ski, but I took
a picture. And at 12 o'clock they used to take these people on balconges covered up
with blankets, like in Switzerland, the sun was ®mE so strong thez got as black as
sun burn., And thats supposed to be good for... So these where Noure places wnmx=m where
the Polish people used to go. With limits because they know they-lkmew that the very
rich gentiles never whmxm were in Poland, they were never in Poland, The big
landowners .
32\~I“B. Oh, you mean they lived else where, . 5,
A H.A, Yeah, &t was a feudal system yet in these places, The Jew had a s Kratzhe Zéﬁb
“ _he had a modest time, where they lived they used to sell liquor to Berlin and this,
and. they were managers of ....
L,B. the estate,
H.A, The estate. We were city folk, This was an entirely different life., We were
city people. And the owners, Eég%—égggﬁgj.ﬁf the Radziwells (?) and the others, they
all owned land for thousands and thousands of acres. And they were managed by other
people, They went to Monte Carlo, to the other places, to the Riviera., But they're
Polish people, :
L.K. In the cottage that you rented from the peasant for the summer, did he live
nearby you when you were there?
H.A, Yeah, you kndw, he kept a little farm like., He lived on the edge of the woods,
He has a wooden house where he lived all year round., He had hogs and chickens and
geese and thats how he, you know. And a little garden he had potatoes or wheat or
something, beets or something like this sort of thing. You know corn I had never
- eaten before, _
L.B. It's not a European grain., It's an American grain.

H,A, Corn? I understand that corn was given to the pigs that they had,

LXK, It was a different kind of corn,

H,A, Bggplant T had never eaten. '

L.B. I don't know where that comes from, But corn was an Indlan grain, An American
Indian grain. '
H.A. For instance celery, I mever had eaten, never. I had tomatoes, cauliflour,
L.B, You were allowed to eat tomatoes?

H.A, Of course, anybody who tell you they never saw a tomatoe, I heard of people,

or they were not allowed to eat, they come from towns, they were poverty, come
from towns I've never seen, There were tomatoes like here, my mother used to mak
A tomatoe soup, we had... Salads we made differently, we didn't make a salad ﬁ%& L)j

) sald, we take the Roman.,. not the Roman the other lettuce of a very soft.
What do you call this?
L,B, BEscarole?
H.A. No,no.
L,B., A soft lettuce,
H.A., A soft lettuce, and we washed it ,
I,X I know, you mean with the big leaves,
L.B., Yeah,
B,A, Yeah, agg put vinegar and sugar, and put it on the top, I had a plece of iron

p— *};-.,':,},l:“‘ Wk ~
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on the top, and it stand there like that. That's how we ate our salad,

L.K, My mother made that salad. It was vinegar and sugar with the lettuce.

H,A, And the same thing with cucumbers.

L.B, Yeéa.h! But that I thought was German., It's not German? INTERV IEWE
L.X. 0y . ,
- x.% Tt's Polish. L EROW
H,A, You want to know how we ﬂgge tomatoe soup? You take real tomatoes, you stew

them, you stew them in the aldll¢,"¥ou strain them, then put a couple of eggs ovexy.
with flour, And that's how you ate it, That was tomato soup. Geeseﬁerah;as we uged
to ... and there was no chicken fat, was goose fat. The geese were arti%icially
fed, I once bought a goose here it was as tough as a hard bimd, I was very
embarrassed, went out, And there, you see, its against the law here, the law is
artificial, &o you know what they did?

L.B., They force feed them. There was a movie, a Czech movie, did you see it?

I forget, it was called the,..

H.A. NO, They used to take the goose and fatten them up,and there were (7L) Y
So the food... the fat went foriyueﬂis and chicken fat, We collected chicken fat:

- for months for the Yomtuv.

L.K. You could also use the down for your pillows,
H.A, Down for the pillows., The feathers were down for the pillows. My mother used
to put it away and gave it to me to my trousseau, :

- L.K, That's right, my mother, I have my mother's pillows that were given to her for

her trousseau, : .
H,A, I still have quilts, silk quilts made out of down, I never used it., Beautiful
quilts, you wouldn't buy it in I &on't know how long., A trousseau was... my trousseau

I‘(as. . e

End of Tape, Hooray!
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